TGEGKXGF."; 13314235"2; 3557."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm"Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## CASE NO. SC 13-717

### **TODD ZOMMER**

### Appellant,

v.

### **STATE OF FLORIDA**

### Appellee,

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

RICHARD E. KILEY Florida Bar No. 0558893 Assistant CCC

ALI ANDREW SHAKOOR Florida Bar No. 669830 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544 813-740-3554 (Facsimile)

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### **Procedural history**

On May 17, 2005, a grand jury in and for Osceola County, Florida returned an indictment charging defendant, Todd Zommer, with the first degree murder of Lois Corrine Robinson. (FSC ROA Vol. I p. 19-20).

Defendant's case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable John M. Morgan on December 3-10, 2007. (FSC ROA Vol. XIX-XXXI). After the jury was selected, Mr. Zommer entered a plea of guilty to charges pending in other cases consolidated for trial: Case Number 05CR-1078: grand theft of a motor vehicle, fleeing and attempting to elude a law enforcement officer, resisting an officer without violence, possession of drug paraphenalia; Case Number 05CR-1094: attempted felony murder, robbery, and aggravated battery with a deadly weapon; Case Number 05CR-2184; two counts of grand theft of a motor vehicle; Case Number 04CR-2982: uttering a forgery and grand theft; Case Number 05CR-2121: grand theft of a boat; and Case Number 05TC-1855: leaving the scene of an accident involving property damage. (FSC ROA Vol. XXVI p. 875-906).

Mr. Zommer maintained his not guilty plea on the first degree murder charge and proceeded to jury trial. After deliberating for thirty minutes, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of first degree murder. (FSC ROA Vol. XXXI p. 1439-45). The jury returned its advisory sentence by a vote of 10 to 2 recommending that the trial court impose the death penalty upon Mr. Zommer. (FSC ROA Vol. XII p. 1795, Vol. XXXVI p. 1943-44).

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing took place on January 4, 2008. The trial court sentenced Mr. Zommer to death. (FSC ROA Vol. XIII p. 1876). On direct appeal, Mr. Zommer was denied relief. See <u>Zommer v. State</u> 31 So.2d 733 (Fla. 2010). Mr. Zommer's petition for writ of certiorari was denied on October 8, 2010.

CCRC-Middle was appointed to represent Mr. Zommer by the Florida

Supreme Court on April 8, 2010. Mr. Zommer's 3.851 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF was filed on September 19<sup>th</sup>, 2011. (PCR Vol. II p. 168-211). The postconviction court's ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFENDANT'S 3.851 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF AS TIMELY FILED NUNC PRO TUNC TO SEPTEMBER 20, 2011, was filed on 11/04/2011. (PCR Vol. II p. 232-233).

A competency hearing was held on June 15, 2012. (PCR Vol. III p. 408). The postconviction court found Mr. Zommer competent on 7/30/2012 (PCR Vol. III p. 423-427). An evidentiary hearing was held on January 30, 2013. The ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR 3.851 POST CONVICTION RELIEF was filed on April 1, 2013. (PCR Vol. IV p. 642-667). A timely notice of appeal was filed and this appeal follows.

# **Evidentiary Hearing Facts**

### **Testimony of Michael Scott Maher M.D.**

Michael Scott Maher is a physician and psychiatrist licensed to practice medicine in the state of Florida. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1562). Dr. Maher was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry by the postconviction court. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1566). Regarding the difference between psychologists and psychiatrists; Dr. Maher testified that a psychologist is more focused on the observation of behavior and the cognitive and behavioral factors that may change that behavior. And a medical doctor is generally more focused on the etiology, the basic underlying physiological cause of behavior. (PCR vol. XVIII p. 1568).

Dr. Maher was retained to evaluate Mr. Zommer and was given a large amount of materials. He was provided with medical records, legal records associated with charges against him and his prosecution; corrections records, which include medical and legal records: records of where he was institutionalized, his behavior there; as well as his records of medical treatment in various facilities. Dr. Maher was also provided with various legal, proceedings which included testimony of other experts who had seen him in a variety of places and contexts; for example Dr. Danziger, who was the first professional who saw Mr. Zommer after his arrest on these murder charges.

He was also provided with medication records related to his treatment at the Florida State Prison, and medical records of his early childhood, where Mr. Zommer was diagnosed and treated at approximately age 12. Dr. Maher also interviewed Mr. Zommer's ex-wife. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1570-71). Dr. Maher was also provided with a taped interview given to the local media and a police interview. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1572).

Regarding the taped interviews, Dr. Maher testified as follows:

Q. Just by looking at Mr. Zommer in these various tapes, which were introduced as evidence in court, uh, did Mr. Zommer appear to be under the influence of any kind of substance or any kind of drug shortly after his arrest?

A. I – I couldn't conclude that without further explanation, based on simple observation of those.Q. Did you see his eyes, Doctor?

A. What I mean by that is, he had an abnormal appearance, an appearance which was consistent with a psychotic manic condition and/or an agitated condition associated with stimulant drug use or withdrawal of stimulant drugs. So I wouldn't necessarily say that in my observation of those tapes I could narrow it down to one or the other, or both, but I did observe that and made the observation that it fit both characteristics. (PCR Vol XVIII p. 1572-73).

Dr. Maher testified that Dr. Danziger, 18 days after Zommer's arrest, noted

that Mr. Zommer was having spells of both manic elation and depression. Furthermore, 10 days before Danziger saw Zommer, the jail psychiatrist had placed him on Depakine and Thorazine. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1573). Dr. Maher testified that Depakene is a drug that was originally used for the treatment of seizure disorders which could provide mood stabilization in individuals who had bipolar disorder. Thorazine is identified as a major antipsychotic or a major tranquilizer. It is a very heavy, strong side-effect-laden old drug that, is used essentially for chemical behavioral control in an individual who is in an agitated state.

Dr. Maher defined psychosis as a condition of abnormal brain functioning in which a person becomes disconnected with reality. It may manifest as having hallucinations, having delusions; delusions being bizarre thoughts that are categorically false. It may also manifest in having what is described as a thought disorder; a thought disorder being a abnormal pattern of thinking which is contrary to logical common sense. Maher found that Mr. Zommer had psychotic tendencies. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1573-75). Dr. Maher also testified that Mr. Zommer was taking Sinequan and Atarax during his original trial. Sinequan is a major sedating antipsychotic drug, similar to Thorazine. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1576). Regarding Mr. Zommer's behavior during Maher's interview with Mr. Zommer, Dr. Maher testified in this manner:

Q. Now, I know, sir, in the competency hearing, you testified that Mr. Zommer was contradictory, in that he told you he did not want to talk to you and then proceeded to talk for two and a half hours. Do you remember testifying to that at the competency hearing?

A. I remember quite well testifying to that and I remember his – his behavior demonstrating that.

Q. At the competency hearing?

A. At – when I interviewed him.

Q. Well, how about – how about the initial interview?

A. That's what I'm talking about. So when I - I remember testifying to that and I remember it occurring.

Q. Okay. Well, why would anybody be taking these antipsychotic drugs during the trial?

A. Individuals with difficult to control bipolar disorder have periods of what are – is generally described as mania. Those periods of mania can, at times, be associated with positive feelings, reasonably quick-witted thinking and a significant degree of logical capacity.

Unfortunately, individuals with bipolar disorder

who are not adequately treated, or who have more severe disorders, have manic episodes which are associated with, essentially, bad symptoms: Irritability, inability to think clearly, inability to follow through with their own thoughts, inability to control their impulses, inability to make decisions in a logical manner and follow through with them, even in the most basic common sense respect. For example, saying to a doctor who comes to visit you, I don't want to talk to you, I'm not gonna want to talk, I'm not gonna talk to you, and then talking a mile a minute for two and a half hours.

So the Sinequan, I suspect – I don't know the doctor who prescribed it, but it would be clinically understandable that a doctor would prescribe that so that he could essentially sit still and not disrupt the proceedings in court.

Q. When you interviewed Mr. Zommer at Union Correctional, did you note if he was or was not taking any medication?

A. When I interviewed him, he had been refusing medication. And he had been taking it very intermittently. It was my judgment that the medication was still having some effect on him but he was essentially, at that point, not taking regular medication.

Q. So this Sinequan and Atarax – you never did explain what Atarax was.

A. Atarax in – is sometimes described as a minor tranquilizer. Atarax is a medication which is more commonly used for people who have, uh, anxiety disorders – generalized anxiety disorders which may cause impairment, but may also be more mild and cause simple discomfort.

So he was taking that drug, as well as a much more substantial drug.

Q. Well, Doctor, are you – well, would this make him calmer. Would it control his bipolar behavior?

A. Yes. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1576-78)

Regarding Mr. Zommer's thought disorder and how that disorder affected the

trial, Dr. Maher testified in this manner:

Q. Doctor, are you aware that Mr. Zommer, during the trial, conversed with the courtroom bailiff and made admissions to the bailiff?

A. Yes.

MR. KILEY: And , Counsel, that's on FSC ROA, Volume XIX, page 65.

BY MR. KILEY:

Q. Were you aware, sir, that the bailiff became a witness against Mr. Zommer?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you say that would be a severe – severe – lapse in judgment on Mr. Zommer's part?

A. Yes.

Q. And –

A. If I may? I think, to characterize my answer fully, I need to add that it is a severe lack of judgment in the context of a normal individual. It is, however, very typical of an individual who is in a manic condition; a manic condition which may be somewhat suppressed in its behavior by the medication he's on, but it's not fully suppressed. So those individuals act and behave in an impulsive, thoughtless manner, which does not consider the future consequences of their behavior.

So, for example, a thought disorder would be the belief that I can just talk to whoever I want and it won't make any difference. And if a person is suffering from that kind of thought disorder, then it's the thought disorder, not so much the bad judgment, that leads them to blabber, if you will, or in colloquial terms, to a bailiff about things that could be contrary to his best interests. So it's not just a poor judgement, it's also the disorder of thinking that's occurring underneath that that's relevant.

Q. Did you find that Mr. Zommer was somewhat defensive about his bipolar condition?

A. He was very – he was, and is, very defensive about it. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1579-80).

Regarding Mr. Zommer's attempts to deal with his mental illness, Dr. Maher

testified in this manner:

Q. In other words, say, sir, he would deny he has a bipolar disorder?

A. Sometimes he has, yes. Sometimes he has acknowledged it.

Q. And would he, therefore, then, instead of explaining this murder as a result of a manic episode, would go out of his way to minimize his psychological or psychiatric impairment?

A. Yes.

Q. In other words, for Mr. Zommer to say, "I knew what I was doing and I loved every minute of it, " would that be consistent with Mr. Zommer's bipolar personality, if you will, sir?

A. Unfortunately, it is.

And, if I may, put that in context. Many, many individuals would rather be seen as foolish, stupid or bad, rather than mentally ill or crazy or mentally defective.

Q. That would be like the opposite if malingering, right? Someone who's not trying to fake mental illness but someone who's trying to hide mental illness?

A. Yes.

Q. And would you say Mr. Zommer falls into the latter category rather than the former?

A. He falls into the latter category, generally speaking, and he has since he was a teenager –

Q. And, sir –

A. – and continues to, long since this offense.

Q. How so, sir?

A. He – he continues to reject the notion that he is suffering from a serious mental illness that affects his thoughts, his behavior, his intelligence, his ability to make decisions.

Q. How about exercise? Did you find that Mr. Zommer, after he refused medication, would exercise to the point of exhaustion?

A. Mr. Zommer does have some – presently, as of the time that I saw him in 2012, he had some ability to accept that he has a mental illness. He rejects the notion that treatment of that mental illness is necessary or desirable. He has, however, identified that he feels better and he thinks more clearly if he gets, uh, vigorous exercise on a regular basis and can exercise to the point of exhaustion.

And this is, indeed, a reasonable treatment intervention for an individual with bipolar disorder. It's not the only one that's necessary or desirable, but it is beneficial.

Q. And that's Mr. Zommer's treatment plan, not the prison psychiatrist's?

A. That is, indeed, Mr. Zommer's treatment plan, not the prison psychiatrist.

Q. And did you not just testify, sir, that Mr. Zommer was not taking or adhering to the plan prescribed to him by the prison psychiatrist?

A. I did, and that's correct. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1579-1582).

Dr. Maher then testified regarding Mr. Zommer's medical history in this

manner:

Q. Doctor, can you tell the Court approximately when Mr.Zommer was first medicated for his disorder?

A. Twelve years old he was given an antipsychotic, Haldol, which is used to treat psychosis and agitated behavior.

Q. And – well, where was that done, in a medical institution, in an outpatient facility, or what?

A. It was done at a crisis stabilization facility – and I don't remember the name right offhand – after an incident of

agitated behavior. Uh, I think he also ran away at that time.

Q. Well, why would you give psychotropic medication – would you say – I'm sorry. You'd say Haldol is a pretty severe drug? It's a –

A. We don't have any more powerful drugs that we can use for that purpose. That's the most powerful drug – it's in the category of the most powerful drugs that we can use for that purpose

Q. Would you just give that to someone who is, to say, a truant or had a conduct disorder?

A. Absolutely not.

Dr. Maher also reviewed the records of the various placements of Mr.Zommer when he was a juvenile and testified that Mr. Zommer was prescribed psychotropic drugs in nearly all of his placements. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1584).

Dr. Maher testified that Zommer had symptoms of mania that were uncontrollable.

It was an early presentation of bipolar disorder which usually does not present until

late adolescence or early adulthood. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1584).

Dr. Maher opined that it is not unusual for someone who is diagnosed with bipolar disorder, and then taken off psychotropic medication, to medicate himself with alcohol and illegal drugs. He said it was very common. Maher opined that people get worse when they do this and they can develop a substance abuse problem. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1585-1587). It usually makes his bipolar condition worse. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 1588).

Regarding the DSM IV and how it was used in Mr. Zommer's case the

following testimony was elicited at the evidentiary hearing:

Q. Would you say that the DSM-IV is – that's a primary authority?

A. I would.

Q. And would you say that every – most mental health professionals rely on it?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you rely on it?

A. I do.

Q. Okay. In the DSM-IV, will you find diagnoses categorized into three axises, Axis I, Axis II and Axis III? A. Yes. There are also two other axises that are not diagnoses, per se.

Q. What are they called, Axis IV and Axis V?

A. Axis IV and Axis V. Axis IV is related to description of stressors in a person's life and Axis V is related to - or is described as a global assessment of function. So it is an attempt to describe, in a single number, the person's general ability to function in their life.

Q. And when you say stressors, would it be – like, an Axis IV diagnosis for me would be that I'm standing here in open court, trying to make my case, and I may be under some considerable stress doing that?

A. That might be a minor stress for you. It would be more things that are unusual for a person's life than a routine part of their life. So a divorce, car accident, an illness, loss of a job, those are things that would more typically be included on the Axis IV.

Q. Okay. What is an Axis I?

A. Axis I is the primary psychiatric diagnosis.

Q. Is bipolar disorder an Axis I?

A. It is.

Q. Can you give me some other examples of Axis I diagnoses?

A. Scizophrenia, primary depression, anxiety disorders, generalized anxiety disorders, phobias, other forms of

depression, dysthymic depression, adjustment disorder and depression. Um –

Q. PTSD?

A. Post-traumatic stress disorder, substance abuse disorders are also coded on Axis I.

Q. Okay. How about Axis II, what's that?

A. Axis II is reserved for what we call personality disorders; disorders of personality, development and identity.

Q. Can you give me some examples of that, sir?

A. Personality disorders would include dependent personality, narcissistic personality, antisocial personality and some others.

Q. You said conduct disorder?

A. Conduct disorder is a Axis I disorder appropriate to children.

Q. Okay. But – an Axis II diagnosis – narcissistic personality disorder, antisocial personality disorder – would you or would you not prescribe Haldol for the treatment of that?

A. No.

Q. Why not?

A. Because they're disorders of personality development. They're thought of and understood as disorders of personality development, not disorders of fundamental brain functioning or physiological medical functioning. So given that those disorders are not biological disorders, we would not focus on biological treatment to treat those disorders.

Q. I think I see what you mean. And I'm gonna try to paraphrase it and you correct me if I'm wrong. An Axis II diagnosis is "may, right? I mean, someone becomes a narcissist through his behavior over the years. An Axis I diagnosis is there's a chemical imbalance or some other physiological cause of the man's disorder.

A. That's very roughly correct. So an Axis II disorder, a personality disorder, is never made before 18 years of age, because – and often not until well after 18 years of age –

because the personality, in personality disorder, is the stable adult personality. And that's language directly from the diagnostic manual. So in order to be diagnosed with a personality disorder, it has to be a stable, adult personality characteristic. And that means it's something that a person grows into, develops into, um, manifests as a stable adult pattern of feeling, thought and behavior.

Q. So if you were to say that a child runs away from home and smokes marijuana and, uh - uh, is truant from school, therefore he is antisocial personality disorder, would that be a correct assessment of this man?

A. No. It's categorically a misuse of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual. And the reason for that is, if we're talking about a child or adolescent, it absolutely is improper to characterize that as a stable collection of adult characteristics.

Q. Okay.

A. Now, it is true that children with that pattern of behavior are at higher risk for developing a personality disorder. But they're also at higher risk of developing a lot of other things and they may not develop a personality disorder. So it would be an improper, premature diagnosis to diagnose a person, who hasn't reached the stage of a stable adult personality, with a personality disorder.

Q. You testified before, though, that when Mr. Zommer was 12, he was being treated for bipolar disorder, an Axis I disorder; is that or is that not correct, sir?

A. In – he was, indeed, being treated for an Axis I disorder, and that's different than a personality disorder.

Q. Okay, sir. When a client – trained clinician, such as yourself, is confronted with a Axis I diagnosis, what do you do?

A. We attempt to understand why they're suffering from that. We attempt to understand any particular details, going beyond the basic diagnosis, the subtype or characteristics, which might trigger illness episodes in that disorder, and we develop a treatment plan. That treatment plan generally includes consideration of biological treatment, usually medications, as well as social behavior and educational treatments.

Q. I'm a little confused, sir.

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