TGEGKXCF. '33B; 14235'373556. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TODD ZOMMER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC13-717 L.T. No. 2005-CF-1200 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 069116 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and] katherine.diamandis@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The postconviction court properly denied Zommer's claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction regarding psychotropic medication. Trial counsel explained this was a strategic decision made after consultation with experts and each other. The decision was reasonable, and in any event Zommer has failed to establish any resulting prejudice. This Court should affirm the court's denial of this claim.

The postconviction court properly denied Zommer's claim regarding the redirect examination of Dr. Jeffrey Danziger. Dr. Danziger diagnosed Zommer with antisocial personality disorder and trial counsel's testimony revealed he made a sound strategic decision not to argue with Danziger on redirect examination over his diagnosis. The decision was reasonable, and in any event Zommer has failed to establish any resulting prejudice. This Court should affirm the court's denial of this claim.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO MAKE A MOTION TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT ZOMMER WAS BEING ADMINISTERED PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION. (Restated by Appellee).

Zommer asserted below that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction that his attendance at trial was aided by medication for a mental condition. Specifically, Defendant alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request the explanatory jury instruction pursuant Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.215 ± 0 Florida (EFFECT OF ADJUDICATION OF INCOMPETENCY ΤO PROCEED: PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION). Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.215(c)(2) provides:

(c) Psychotropic Medication. A defendant who, because of psychotropic medication, is able to understand the proceedings and to assist in the defense shall not automatically be deemed incompetent to proceed simply because the defendant's satisfactory mental condition is dependent on such medication, nor shall the defendant be prohibited from proceeding solely because the defendant is being administered medication under medical supervision for mental а or emotional condition.

• • •

(2) If the defendant proceeds to trial with the aid of medication for a mental or emotional condition, on the motion of defense counsel, the jury shall, at the beginning of the trial and in the charge to the jury, be given explanatory instructions regarding such medication.

The postconviction court granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim, and subsequently denied it based on a finding that trial counsel made a strategic decision not to request the jury instruction. (PCR V4:653-55).⁸ The State submits that the postconviction court properly concluded that Zommer was not entitled to relief on his claim.

In order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) a defendant must establish two general components.

First, the claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined.

⁸ The jury instruction reads, in pertinent part:

(Defendant) currently is being administered psychotropic medication under medical supervision for a mental or emotional condition.

Psychotropic medication is any drug or compound affecting the mind or behavior, intellectual functions, perception, mood, or emotion and includes anti-psychotic, anti-depressant, anti-manic, and antianxiety drugs.

Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, Instruction 3.6(c) Insanity-Psychotropic Medication, The Florida Bar (1994).

Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986).

To the extent Zommer is challenging counsel's performance at the penalty phase, it should be noted in order to obtain a reversal of a death sentence on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, the defendant must show "both (1) that the identified acts or omissions of counsel were deficient, or outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense such that, without the errors, there is a reasonable probability that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances would have been different." <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1049 (Fla. 2000) (citations omitted); <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694 (for prejudice finding, sentencer would have weighed the aggravating and mitigating factors and found that the circumstances did not warrant the death penalty).

Furthermore, as the <u>Strickland</u> Court noted, there is a strong presumption that counsel's performance was not ineffective. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690. A fair assessment of an attorney's performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. <u>Id</u>. at 689. The defendant carries the burden to "overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be

considered sound trial strategy.'" Id.

Defendant's argument and the testimony from the postconviction hearing establish only that collateral counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decision. This is not the standard to be considered. <u>Rutherford v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1998) ("Strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance if alternative courses of action have been considered and rejected"); <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995) (noting "standard is not how present counsel would have proceeded, in hindsight, but rather whether there was *both* a deficient performance and a reasonable *probability* of a different result"). Indeed, in reviewing Zommer's claims, this Court must be highly deferential to counsel:

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proven unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

<u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689; <u>see also Rivera v. Dugger</u>, 629 So. 2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993) ("The fact that postconviction counsel would have handled an issue or examined a witness differently does not mean that the methods employed by trial counsel were inadequate or prejudicial"); <u>Stano v. State</u>, 520 So. 2d 278, 281, n. 5 (Fla. 1988) (noting fact that current counsel, through hindsight, would now do things differently is not the test for ineffectiveness).

On appeal, when reviewing a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness claim, this Court defers to the trial court's findings on factual issues, but reviews the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs *de novo*. <u>Bruno v. State</u>, 807 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 2001). In this case, the postconviction court properly identified the applicable law in analyzing Zommer's claim, correctly applied this law to the facts, and concluded that Zommer was not entitled to postconviction relief.

In rejecting Zommer's ineffective assistance of counsel claim relating to the explanatory psychotropic medication jury instruction, the postconviction court stated:

Claim IB: Jury Instruction Claim

Zommer contends that counsel was ineffective for not requesting an explanatory jury instruction that would have advised the jury that he was under medication for a mental condition during the trial. He asserts that the jury did not get an opportunity to observe his true demeanor since he was taking psychotropic drugs.

Ms. Cashman testified that she was aware that Mr. Zommer was taking medication during the trial. However, the defense team did not request a special jury instruction regarding the Defendant's medication because they were concerned as to how that information would be received by the jury. Ms. Cashman stated that she did not want the jury to hold the instruction against him, be afraid of him, or think he was crazy. Cashman testified:

We were concerned how the jury would take that and that they would hold it against him, be scared of him, think he was crazy. I mean, Todd's behavior was, um... sort of (indicating) - he was a little bit on edge, as it was, while medicated. And if the jury saw that, they could be fearful that, if he's that way on med's, what if he gets off 'em? You know, what if this happens again? And, you know, as a defense attorney you worry about jurors who are scared of the mentally ill, because there's no cure for it, all you can do is control it and...

(Evid. Hrg., Vol II, page 132).

Ms. Cashman further testified that she believed that a juror is more likely to "kill" a defendant if they think the defendant will likely kill again or are afraid that a defendant will be released and that it decision was а strategic not to request the instruction based on her extensive experience in litigating death penalty cases and input from the mental health experts.

(Evid. Hrg., Vol II, pages 133-34).

Mr. Sims agreed that it was a strategic decision not to seek an instruction informing the jury that Mr. Zommer was under the influence of psychotropic drugs at trial. Sims indicated that the jury might worry that he would hurt someone if they knew that he was under psychotropic medicines. Sims said that, during trial, Zommer had some outbursts, "[n]ot bad in the great scheme of things for Todd, but I think he commented a little bit on people's testimony where it could clearly be heard by the jury." (Evid. Hrg., Vol II, page 181). Mr. Sims testified that Mr. Zommer seemed to be "always be straining at the leash, even with the best medication," and he didn't want the jury to think that he was a "wild animal" that needed to be drugged during the guilt phase. Sims testified that it was their belief that it could have an impact on the jury's verdict if they knew he was taking psychotropic drugs. He explained:

Mine was simple, in that - and I told Trish, and I believed it - that Todd barely looked under control, and if we were to tell somebody that he's under control based on psychotropic medications, there might be great worry in the jury if Todd would ever get out or if Todd would ever get into - um, get into a more free setting within the jails you know, that would come with a life sentence as opposed to death. (Evid. Hrg., Vol II, page 179).

After considering all of the testimony, the Court finds that trial counsels' decision not to request a special jury instruction regarding defendant's medication at trial was a matter of reasonable trial ``In claim of strategy. asserting а ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must overcome the circumstances, presumption that, under the the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy." See Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 500 (Fla. 2005). "Counsel is entitled to great latitude in making strategic decisions." See also Dufour v. State, 905 So. 2d 42, 57 (Fla. 2005). "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of judgment." Strickland reasonable professional V. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984). Moreover, strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). Here, Zommer's experienced trial counsel conferred with each other as well as their mental health experts and made a reasonable, strategic decision not to request a jury instruction relating to the fact that the defendant was under psychotropic medication during the trial. Consequently, this claim is denied.

(PCR V4:653-55) (emphasis supplied).

The postconviction court properly denied Zommer's claim and Zommer is not entitled to any relief from this Court.

Trial counsel's postconviction testimony indicates they conferred with one another, sought input from mental health experts and made a strategic decision not to request the jury instruction. (PCR V19:1687-89, 1734). Cashman and Sims were both concerned the instruction would cause the jury to be fearful of Zommer, and more likely to vote for a death recommendation. (PCR V19:1687-88, 1734-36). Cashman's decision regarding the instruction was based on her extensive history in death penalty cases. (PCR V19:1688). Indeed, Cashman has had experience in having to analyze and decide this very issue in prior cases. (PCR V19:1688)

Sims explained the effect the instruction would have during the penalty phase:

At penalty phase, it's like there's nothing that can control him. So we can't put him out into a normal prison society 'cause he could hurt another prisoner -- which I don't think would be that big of a concern -- but he could hurt a prison worker and that would have been a concern. So we didn't request that instruction.

(PCR V19:1735). Sims was concerned if the jury knew Zommer was medicated it would affect the jury's sentencing recommendation. (PCR V19:1736). He explained: "[T]hey'd say we can't ever be sure that this guy's gonna take his medication and he's gonna be all right." (PCR V19:1736). Moreover, Sims testified that Zommer had outbursts during trial and their thought was that they did not want the jury to question "if he's dangerous underneath that amount of drugs, what's he gonna be like if he gets off his drugs. . . ." (PCR V19:1736; 1797-98).

Trial counsel's testimony as outlined by the postconviction court's order and as noted above clearly establishes that the decision not to request the explanatory jury instruction was strategic, and reasonable. Moreover, the decision was made after consultation with one another, and with defense mental health experts.

The law is well established that strategic decisions of trial counsel do not constitute deficient performance. <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2001); <u>Occhicone</u>, 768 So. 2d at 1048. The question "is not what present counsel or this Court might now view as the best strategy, but rather whether the strategy was within the broad range of discretion afforded to counsel actually responsible for the defense." Occhicone, 768

So. 2d at 1049. Additionally, the burden of establishing deficient performance is especially difficult in the instant case because Defendant was represented by experienced trial counsel. <u>See generally Chandler v. United States</u>, 218 F.3d 1305, 1316 & n. 18 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc) ("When courts are examining the performance of an experienced trial counsel, the presumption that his conduct was reasonable is even stronger.").

As Zommer's experienced trial counsel conferred with each other, and defense experts and made a strategic decision not to ask for the explanatory jury instruction Zommer cannot establish trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance. Accordingly, the judgment of the postconviction court must be affirmed.

In any case, Zommer cannot establish that trial counsel acted deficiently nor resulting prejudice as the jury instruction would not have been warranted in his case.

An explanatory instruction pursuant to the Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.215(c)(2) is only required when a there is prior adjudication of incompetency or restoration and the defendant's ability to proceed to trial is solely because the defendant is being administered psychotropic medication.⁹ Alston v. State, 723 So.

⁹ In fact, the Rule was adopted to address concerns related to a defendant's competency. <u>See The Florida Bar, In re Rules of Criminal Procedure</u>, 389 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1980). The Rule's language actually tracks a 1978 suggested statute relating to

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